ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Certiorari to Colleton County SEP - 3 2014

Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge
S.C. Supreme Court

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID JAKES,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002571

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court in allowing Juror 102 to remain seated on the jury when she disclosed, after the jury was seated and sworn, that her husband had been a full time deputy with the Colleton County Sheriff's Department until two and one-half years ago and was currently a reserve deputy?

STATEMENT

On October 28, 2010, the Colleton County Grand Jury indicted Jakes on three counts of attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. On August 25, 2011, the Colleton County Grand jury indicted Jakes on three counts of attempted murder. On August 11, 2011, a pretrial hearing on a motion to quash the indictments was held for Jakes and one of his co-defendants, Antwan D. McMillan before the Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III. Jakes was represented by Harris S. Beach, and the state was represented by Amanda Haselden and Ben Shelton. On August 29 – September 1, 2011, Jakes and McMillan proceeded to trial jointly before Judge Buckner and a jury. Jakes again was represented by Harris Beach, and the state by Amanda Haselden and Ben Shelton. The jury found Jakes guilty of three counts of the lesser included offense of attempted assault and battery, and three counts of attempted armed robbery, and possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. Judge Buckner granted a directed verdict on another charge, possession of a stolen pistol. R. 566, ll. 2 -4. Judge Buckner sentenced Jakes to a total incarceration of thirty-five years. R. 718, ll. 1 – 21. Jakes' attorney filed a notice of appeal. The Court of Appeals issued a published opinion on July 10, 2013 affirming appellant's convictions and sentences. State v. Jakes, Op. No. 5158 (Ct. App. filed July 20, 2013). Counsel filed a petition for rehearing which was granted. The Court of Appeals refiled a new opinion on September 25, 2013 again affirming appellant's conviction and sentences. State v. Jakes, Op. No. 5158 (Ct. App. filed September 25, 2013). The Court issued a third unpublished opinion on October 2, 2013. State v. Jakes, 2013-UP-360 (Ct. App. filed October 2, 2013). Counsel filed a second petition for rehearing which was denied on November 12, 2013. A petition for a writ of certiorari was filed with the Supreme Court which this Court granted on August 6, 2014. This brief of petitioner follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court by allowing Juror 102 to remain seated on the jury when she disclosed, after the jury was seated and sworn, that her husband had been a full time deputy with the Colleton County Sheriff's Department until two and one-half years ago and was currently a reserve deputy.

On June 3, 2010, Jeanine Metzfield was following her daughter, Amanda Metzfield and Amanda's husband, Jesse King, with a U- Haul trailer as they were moving to Florida. As they were passing through Colleton County, engine troubles with her truck forced them to stop and transfer the U-Haul to the other vehicle. R. 147, ll.15 – 25; R. 148, ll. 1 – 25.

They stopped on the exit ramp around midnight. As Jesse knelt down to work on the truck, a car stopped in the middle of the intersection. A male jumped out of the back seat with a large pistol in his hand and a black t-shirt over most of his head. R. 149, ll. 1 – 25; R. 150, ll. 1 – 25; R. 151, ll. 1 – 25. The man said to Jeanine to either "put'em up, pretty lady" or "get'em up, pretty lady." R. 152, ll. 1 – 25.

At that point, Jesse, who was an explosives disposal specialist with the Army, jumped up, pulled his gun, and ordered the man to get back in his car and leave. The man then pointed his gun at Jesse. Jesse shot at the man several times until the man fell. Then the people in the car started firing at Jesse. The injured man dropped his gun and crawled into the car, and the car drove away. R. 171, ll. 1 – 25; R. 172, ll. 1 – 25; R. 174, ll. 1 – 25; R. 175, ll. 1 – 25. Jesse called 911. R. 176, ll. 1 – 24.

According to the testimony of the third co-defendant, James Davis, Jakes came and picked him up from his house on June 3, 2010 to go out and "look for girls." They picked up McMillan, and then returned to Jakes' grandmother's house for him to get his gun. Although the Cadillac

Jakes was driving belonged to his grandmother, McMillan started driving. R. 210, ll. 14 – 25; R. 213, ll. 1 – 25; R. 216, ll. 1 – 25; R. 217, ll. 1 – 25; R. 218, ll. 1 – 25; R. 219, ll. 25; R. 220, ll. 1 – 25; R. 221, ll. 1 – 25; R. 222, ll. 1 – 25; R. 223, ll. 1 – 25.

On the way to Walterboro, they saw the three victims on the side of the road at I-95. McMillan then had the idea to rob them as he said it would be easy. Davis said he did not want any part of it, but Jakes said he would do it. R. 225, ll. 1 – 25; R. 226, ll. 1 – 25.

When the car stopped, Jakes jumped out pointing his gun at the people telling them to “Give it up.” Then Davis heard gunshots, and McMillan allegedly started shooting through the car window. Then he realized Jakes was shot, and he opened the car door for Jakes to get in the car. R. 227, ll. 1 – 25; R. 228, ll. 1 – 25; R. 229, ll. 1 – 25; R. 230, ll. 1 – 25; R. 231, ll. 1 – 25.

Jakes was screaming for them to take him to the hospital, but they were going home. They passed some friends, including LaToya Bryant, who transported Jakes to the hospital. R. 232, ll. 1 – 25; R. 233, ll. 1 – 25; R. 236, ll. 1 – 25; R. 237, ll. 1 – 8; R. 273, ll. 8 – 25; R. 283, ll. 1 – 25; R. 284, ll. 1 – 25; R. 285, ll. 1 – 24.

Lieutenant Fred Inabinett with the Colleton County Sheriff’s Office testified for Co-Defendant McMillan that he took a statement from Jakes after Jakes requested to see him about fourteen months after the incident. According to the testimony, Jakes admitted being at the scene but said McMillan was not there. He said the third person was J-Sneez. R. 569, ll. 1 – 25; R. 570, ll. 1 – 25; R. 571, ll. 1 – 25; R. 575, ll. 1 – 5.

Jakes allegedly told him they were drinking heavily that day. When they saw the victims on the side of the road, Jakes remembered seeing only the two women. R. 574, ll. 1 – 25; R. 575, ll. 5 – 25; R. 576, ll. 1 – 25; R. 577, ll. 1 – 25; R. 578, ll. 1 – 25; R. 579, ll. 1 – 25. Jakes said they stopped to check a donut tire they were using when he saw the two women. Jakes said he did not have his

gun in his hand when he got out of the car. He did yell to the women; “Hey pretty lady!” R. 579, ll. 1 – 25; R. 580, ll. 1 – 25. When the male victim stood up and Jakes saw he had a gun, then Jakes retrieved his gun. Then the male victim started shooting at him, and Jakes was injured. R. 580, ll. 1 – 25; R. 581 ll. 1 – 25. Jakes’ gun was not fired. R. 447, ll. 2 – 25; R. 448, ll. 1 – 25; R. 449, ll. 1 – 25.

After the testimony of the three state’s witnesses, the trial judge *in camera* told the attorneys that he received a note from Juror 102, Yvonne Lightsey, signed by the jury Foreperson. R. 197, ll. 1 – 24. The note read:

I need to make sure that I’m a suitable juror for this trial due to the status of my husband.

R. 197, ll. 15 – 17.

The judge, with the agreement of the attorneys, called the juror into the court room and discussed the issue after he confirmed there was a Deputy Lightsey on reserve status with the Colleton County Sheriff’s Office. Juror Lightsey revealed that her husband for the first few years was a full time deputy with the Colleton County Sheriff’s Office. For the past two and one-half years, he was a Reserve Deputy. When the judge asked her if that would affect her ability to give a fair and impartial trial, she replied no. R. 198, ll. 1 – 25; R. 199, ll. 1 – 25; R. 200, ll. 1 – 25; R. 201, ll. 1 – 25; R. 202, ll. 1 – 25. The judge said he did not ask a question about spouses during *voir dire*. R. 203, ll. 1 – 25.

Jakes’ attorney, to which McMillan’s attorney joined in, then objected to Juror 102 continuing on the jury. The judge told them that they did not present a question for *voir dire* related to this issue. R. 204, ll. 1 – 25; R. 208, ll. 7 – 13. Jakes’ attorney argued that Juror 102’s responses to the questionnaire from the Clerk of Court’s office lists her husband as Environmental Health

Management, but had nothing about his being a reserve deputy. The judge then reviewed the form from the Clerk's Office which indicated the husband was Environmental health Management and reserve deputy. R. 205, ll. 1 – 25.

After reviewing the attorney's form from the Clerk's Office, the judge said that the Clerk's Office did not transmit everything the juror filled out on the Clerk's form to the form the attorneys received. The judge said it was a Scribner's[sic] error. Defense counsel argued that the juror did not indicate during *voir dire* that she had knowledge of any of the Sheriff's Department witnesses. R. 206, ll. 1 – 25; R. 207, ll. 1 – 25. Counsel argued that they may have used their strikes differently if they had known the husband was a deputy. The judge refused to excuse the juror. R. 204, ll. 8 – 25; R. 208, ll. 1 – 13.

At the time Juror 102 was seated during jury selection, Jakes had exercised three of his five strikes. R. 77, ll. 1 – 25; R. 78, ll. 1 – 25; R. 80, ll. 1 -25. The trial judge had granted each defendant five strikes. R. 75, ll. 1 – 8.

In State v. Bell, 374 S.C. 136, 646 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2007), the Court of Appeals held that the decision on whether to dismiss a juror and replace her with an alternate was within the sound discretion of the trial court, and such decision would not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000).

The constitutional standard of fairness requires that a defendant have a panel of impartial, indifferent jurors. State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999); U.S. Const. Amend. 14.

In State v. Woods, 345 S.C. 583, 587, 550 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001), the Supreme Court held:

All criminal defendants have the right to a trial by an impartial jury. U.S. CONST. amends. VI and XIV; S.C. CONST. art. I, § 14. To protect both parties' right to an impartial jury, the trial judge must ask potential jurors whether they are aware of any bias or prejudice against a party. State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 502 S.E.2d 99 (1998). "Through the judge, parties have a right to question jurors on their *voir dire* examination not only for the purpose of showing grounds for a challenge for cause, but also, within reasonable limits, to elicit such facts as will enable them intelligently to exercise their right of peremptory challenge." Gulledge, 277 S.C. at 370, 287 S.E.2d at 490.

In State v. Woods, *supra*, the Supreme Court held that when the court finds that the juror intentionally concealed the information, and that the information would have supported a challenge for cause or would have been a material factor in the use of the party's peremptory challenges, the trial court must grant a motion for a new trial. Material means "of such a nature that knowledge of the item would affect a person's decision-making." Black's Law Dictionary 1066 (9th ed. 2009).

The two prong analysis as stated in State v. Woods, *supra*, should not apply in Jakes' case. The issue is not whether the juror intentionally or non-intentionally concealed information, the issue is whether the omitted information, that she was married to a reserve deputy, from the jury information sheet provided by the Clerk of Court's Office, would have been a material factor in the use of Jakes' peremptory challenges. This information would have been used by defense counsel in the exercise of preemptory strikes. It was material to the preemptory challenges as the attorneys said they would have used their strikes differently.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's ruling. The Court of Appeals held that Jakes cited no authority for his specific proposition that a trial court abuses its discretion in not removing a juror when a defendant contends he would have exercised his peremptory challenges differently had he known "material" but previously omitted facts about any particular juror, regardless of that juror's professed impartiality. Therefore, the court proceeded to determine solely whether the juror

was impartial. The Court held that the trial judge's refusal to excuse the Juror and to substitute her with an alternate was not an abuse of discretion because the juror was impartial.

The Court of Appeals misapprehended the issue when they wrote that because they found no intentional concealment, they did not need to determine whether the information would have been a material factor in the exercise of peremptory strikes. Although the juror claimed to not be biased, due to the fact that she was married to a deputy sheriff who was in the business of fighting crime, bias on her part in a criminal trial would be inevitable. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that the accused in all criminal prosecutions shall enjoy the right to a trial by an impartial jury.

It was prejudicial to Jakes for the juror, whom he would have struck if he had known of her husband's employment as a deputy, was allowed to remain on the jury. It was material because this information would have affected appellant's decision regarding the jury. Because the judge did ask during *voir dire* if any juror was a member of law enforcement, this should have prompted the juror to believe that marriage to a law enforcement officer was a problem as any reasonable person would have believed. In fact, the juror did come to believe it could be a problem as she finally came forth.

Defense counsel did not ask about spouses on *voir dire* because that information was provided on the jurors' questionnaires from the Clerk's Office; however, it was incomplete. The information for Juror 102 had her spouse listed as in environmental health management, but had nothing about his being a deputy. There was no need to ask the question. If the form had been blank regarding spouses, then defense counsel would have had a reason to ask. Defense counsel had every reason to rely on the information provided by the Clerk's Office.

In State v. Burgess, 391 S.C. 15, 703 S.E.2d 512 (Ct. App. 2010), the Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to remove a juror after the juror informed

the court that the murder victim's estranged wife was the sister of someone he supervised, where the juror did not conceal any information requested during the voir dire.

Jakes' case is distinguished from Burgess in that the relationship of Juror 102 to her husband was closer than the relationship in Burgess which was more removed and involved an employee of the juror involved. Jakes' case is also distinguished from Burgess in that the juror in Burgess' case notified the court before opening statements of the relationship. In Jakes' case, the juror volunteered the information after voir dire, and after the testimony of the three victims.

In Rivera v. Illinois, 556 U.S. 148 (2009), the United States Supreme Court held that the Due Process Clause safeguards not the meticulous observance of state procedural prescriptions, but the fundamental elements of fairness in a criminal trial. The Supreme Court also wrote that courts typically designate an error as "structural", therefore requiring automatic reversal, only when the error necessarily renders a criminal trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence.

The Court of Appeals cited the case of State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 321, 631 S.E.2d 294 (Ct. App. 2006). However, the Court also held in that case that "perceived prejudice of a juror may serve as a basis for exercising a peremptory challenge." The fact that the juror's husband was a deputy sheriff in the same county was "perceived" prejudice. The Court in Cochran, Id. wrote:

Beyond a challenge for cause, this court has held that "the principle function of the peremptory strike is to allow for the removal of a juror in whom the challenging party perceives bias or prejudice, even where the juror is not challengeable for cause." State v. Short, 327 S.C. 329, 335, 489 S.E.2d 209 (Ct. App. 1997)., *aff'd*, 333 S.C. 473, 511 S.E.2d 358 (1999). It follows, then, that perceived prejudice may serve as a basis for exercising a peremptory challenge. Because a juror's perceived bias (for whatever reason) lies at the core of virtually every peremptory challenge, courts should intervene only when it is demonstrated that the strike runs afoul of the Constitution.

369 S.C. at 321, 631 S.E.2d at 302-302 (Ct App. 2006).

The information that Juror 102 was married to a reserve deputy who had been a full deputy until two and one-half years ago would have been a material factor in the use of the peremptory strikes. The trial judge abused his discretion by not removing the juror which was prejudicial to Jakes---especially in light of the fact that Jakes did not seek a mistrial but rather moved to replace the juror with one of the three alternate jurors. R. 206, ll. 1 – 25; R. 207, ll. 1 – 25; R. 208, ll. 1 – 5. Finding that it was a Scrivener’s error did not lessen the prejudicial impact to Jakes.