RECEIVED

OCT - 9 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Colleton County
Honorable Perry M. Buckner, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-002571

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

DAVID JAKES,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

concealment occurs when the question presented to the jury on voir dire is reasonably comprehensible to the average juror and the subject of the inquiry is of such significance that the juror's failure to respond is unreasonable."'). Critically, the fact Juror # 102 did not intentionally conceal information was highly significant as to whether she could be fair and impartial in deciding Jakes' case because an unintentional failure to disclose even material information does not support an inference of partiality or bias on the part of a juror. See id. at 589, 550 S.E.2d at 282 ("Where the juror's failure to disclose information is 'without justification,' i.e., intentional, the juror's bias will be inferred. Conversely, **where the failure to disclose is innocent, no inference of bias can be drawn.**" (emphasis added)). Therefore, under the circumstances of Jakes' case, the trial judge had no reason to infer Juror # 102 was not impartial or to believe she would jeopardize Jakes' right to a fair trial by an impartial jury, which was all he was entitled to under the law. See Rogers, 263 S.C. at 382, 210 S.E.2d at 609 ("[T]he defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury or jurors and has the right only to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.").

whether a juror personally worked for a law enforcement agency would in no way necessitate a response in regard to the employment of the juror's spouse, children, or other family members. See State v. Galbreath, 359 S.C. 398, 403-404, 597 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (Ct. App. 2004) (rejecting Galbreath's contention a juror intentionally failed to disclose information during voir dire where the trial judge did not ask any questions during voir dire that would have required the juror to disclose the information Galbreath alleged was concealed); see also Smith v. State, 375 S.C. 507, 519, 654 S.E.2d 523, 529-530 (2007) (finding it was reasonable for a juror to remain silent during voir dire even though he was asked if he was related by blood or marriage or was a close personal friend to Smith because the juror was not related to Smith and neither the juror nor Smith considered the juror to be close personal friends with Smith). As a result, Juror # 102's failure to disclose information that was not asked about during voir dire was entirely reasonable under the circumstances and could not constitute evidence of intentional concealment on her part. See Woods, 345 S.C. at 588, 550 S.E.2d at 284 ("We hold that intentional concealment occurs when the question presented to the jury on voir dire is reasonably comprehensible to the average juror and the subject of the inquiry is of such significance that the juror's failure to respond is unreasonable. Unintentional concealment, on the other hand, occurs where the question posed is ambiguous or incomprehensible to the average juror, or where the subject of the inquiry is insignificant or so far removed in time that the juror's failure to respond is reasonable under the circumstances.").

Looking to the second factor relevant to the analysis, the information not revealed by Juror # 102 during voir dire did not establish she was either biased or potentially biased and was not significant to the manner in which the parties exercised their peremptory challenges. Critically, the fact Juror # 102 was married to a reserve deputy with the Colleton County Sheriff's Office did not automatically disqualify her from serving on the jury. See State v. Gullede, 277 S.C. 368, 370, 287 S.E.2d 488, 489 (1982) ("Solely because a juror is related by blood or marriage to a police officer or deputy sheriff does not automatically disqualify the juror[.]"). Moreover, by their own admission, neither defense counsel for Jakes nor defense counsel for McMillan attempted to have the trial judge question the prospective jurors about their spouses – or their spouses' employment status – during voir dire despite the fact they submitted requests to the trial judge for the jurors to be questioned on other subjects at that time, which demonstrated defense counsel did not consider information related to the jurors' spouses to be an important consideration in the exercise of their peremptory strikes.⁷ See State v. Rayfield, 232 S.C. 230, 236, 101 S.E.2d 505, 509 (1958) ("[O]bjections to jurors should be made before the jury is empaneled and charged with the trial of the case, unless there is unknown disqualification which due diligence would not disclose. . . . A simple request by him to the Court for interrogation of the jurors would have prevented the alleged error of which he now complains."); see also Lynch v. Carolina Self Storage

⁷ In his Brief of Petitioner, Jakes contends there was no reason for him to ask the trial judge to question the prospective jurors about their spouses' employment during voir dire because that information was supposed to be included on the list of juror information compiled by the clerk of court. Notably though, defense counsel for Jakes and McMillan still believed it was important for the prospective jurors to be asked during voir dire if they worked for a law enforcement agency despite the fact that information was also included on the juror questionnaire forms. For that reason, it is more plausible Jakes did not ask the trial judge to question the prospective jurors about their spouses' employment during voir dire because he did not consider such information to be particularly important in regard to the exercise of his peremptory challenges. See generally S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1020 (granting parties the right to have the trial judge question the prospective jurors during voir dire to determine if they can be fair and impartial).

Ctrs., Inc., 409 S.C. 146, 156, 760 S.E.2d 111, 117 (Ct. App. 2014) (“[T]he responsibility for obtaining such information falls on the attorneys to request precise voir dire questions that are reasonably comprehensible to the average juror.”). In fact, even after the information in regard to Juror # 102’s husband was revealed, defense counsel for McMillan only asserted to the trial judge he **may** have used his peremptory challenges differently had he known Juror # 102’s husband was a reserve deputy, and defense counsel for Jakes focused his objection to Juror # 102 on his mistaken belief she intentionally concealed the information while never specifically contending he would have exercised his peremptory strikes differently had he known about Juror # 102’s husband’s employment status earlier. Under those circumstances, the juror’s innocent non-disclosure of the information about her husband during voir dire did not necessitate her removal from the jury during the middle of trial.

Because Juror # 102 did not intentionally conceal the information about her husband and that information did not reflect adversely on her ability to be fair and impartial in deciding Jakes’ case, there was no reason for the trial judge to believe he needed to replace Juror # 102 in order for Jakes to receive a fair trial. See Coaxum, (Shearouse Adv. Sheet No. 40 at 32) (recognizing a trial judge likely would have been justified in **refusing** to excuse a juror where there was no allegation the juror intentionally failed to disclose a potential relationship to the defendant until the middle of trial); see also Sparkman, 358 S.C. at 497, 596 S.E.2d at 378 (“Because [the juror]’s concealment was unintentional our inquiry is over[.]”); State v. Kelly, 331 S.C. 132, 145-146, 502 S.E.2d 99, 103-107 (1998) (“Appellant maintained that had he been aware of Juror P’s activities, he would have exercised a preemptory strike to exclude Juror P from the juror. . . . Here, we find no abuse of discretion because Juror P did not intentional

conceal information during voir dire.”). As a result, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to remove Juror # 102 from the jury during the middle of trial, particularly where the juror expressly assured the trial judge she could be fair and impartial despite her husband’s employment as a reserve deputy, she did not know anything about Jakes’ case, she did not know any of the witnesses, and she had not talked about the case with her husband. See State v. Ivey, 331 S.C. 118, 122-123, 502 S.E.2d 92, 94 (1998) (“The trial judge properly inquired into the effect Juror Young’s knowledge of ‘Fletch’ would have on her ability to be fair and impartial. Juror Young unequivocally stated her knowledge of ‘Fletch’ would have no effect on her ability to render an impartial verdict. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing Juror Young to remain on the jury.”); see also State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 41, 479 S.E.2d 57, 59 (1996) (“A juror’s competence is within the trial judge’s discretion and is not reviewable on appeal unless wholly unsupported by the evidence.”). Accordingly, under those circumstances, the trial judge’s decision not to remove Juror # 102 from the jury does not warrant a reversal of Jakes’ convictions, and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial judge’s ruling. See Coaxum, (Shearouse Adv. Sheet No. 40 at 32) (“[A]s we have previously stated, ‘ a new trial is *required* only when the court finds the juror *intentionally* concealed the information ’ ” (italics in original and citations omitted)). Jakes’ convictions should be affirmed.

B. Absence of Prejudice and Harmlessness of Any Error

In every criminal case tried in South Carolina, a defendant has a constitutional right to a fair trial. Woods, 345 S.C. at 587, 550 S.E.2d at 284; see State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 627 (2000) (“The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution guarantee a defendant a fair trial by a panel of impartial and

indifferent jurors.”). That right guarantees to a defendant a trial by a panel of impartial, indifferent jurors. State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, 96, 671 S.E.2d 619, 633 (Ct. App. 2008). Importantly though, a defendant in South Carolina does not have a right to be tried by a jury composed of any particular jurors. See Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 517, 511 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1999) (“[T]his Court has held that a criminal defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury, but only a right to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.”); see also U.S. Const. amend. VI (“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, **by an impartial jury**[.]” (emphasis added)); S.C. Const. art. I, § 14 (“The right to trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial **by an impartial jury**[.]” (emphasis added)).

In the case at bar, any error that occurred as a result of the trial judge refusing to replace Juror # 102 – even assuming one did occur – was entirely harmless and resulted in no prejudice to Jakes because no evidence was presented of any kind suggesting Jakes did not receive a fair and impartial trial. See State v. Bonneau, 276 S.C. 122, 125, 276 S.E.2d 300, 301 (1982) (“It is, of course, incumbent upon an appellant . . . to prove that he was denied a fair trial.”). Critically, after questioning Juror # 102 both during voir dire and in the middle of trial, the trial judge expressly determined she could be fair and impartial, and no evidence was presented supporting a conclusion to the contrary. See State v. Maxey, 218 S.C. 106, 110, 62 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1950) (“The findings of the trial court on questions of fact relating to the fitness of a juror are conclusive, and will not be disturbed on review unless manifestly erroneous. This principle of law is so well establishing it hardly becomes necessary to cite authority to sustain it.”). Because Juror # 102 was a fair and impartial member of the jury, the trial judge’s decision not to replace

her with an alternate did not have any impact on Jakes' receipt of a fair trial by a fair and impartial jury, which was all he was entitled to under the law. See Rogers, 263 S.C. at 382, 210 S.E.2d at 609 (“[T]he defendant has no right to a trial by any particular jury or jurors and has the right only to a trial by a competent and impartial jury.”); cf. Sparkman, 358 S.C. at 497, 596 S.E.2d at 378 (“[I]n this case, the juror testimony is clearly ‘contrary’ to an inference of bias or prejudice, and the trial judge was in the best position to make a factual decision concerning the effects of Scott's alleged misconduct.”). Therefore, Jakes suffered no prejudice as a result of the trial judge’s decision not to remove Juror # 102 from the jury, and the trial judge’s decision – even assuming it was erroneous – could not have constituted reversible error. See State v. King, 367 S.C. 131, 136, 623 S.E.2d 865, 867 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Error without prejudice does not warrant reversal.”); see also Thomasko v. Poole, 349 S.C. 7, 17, 561 S.E.2d 597, 602 (2002) (“It is well established that an appellant seeking reversal of a decision by the trial court must show both error and prejudice.”).

In arguing to the contrary, Jakes appears to suggest his right to exercise a peremptory challenge on Juror # 102 was erroneously abridged, which he contends entitles him to a reversal of his conviction even if he did not suffer any actual prejudice. However, unlike cases where the defendant was actually denied the right to exercise a peremptory challenge on a particular juror, Jakes was not prevented from exercising a peremptory challenge on Juror # 102 during voir dire, and his right to exercise a peremptory challenge is not the issue implicated in his case. Cf. State v. Short, 333 S.C. 473, 477-478, 511 S.E.2d 358, 360-361 (1999) (instructing no showing of prejudice was required where the trial judge denied Short the right to exercise peremptory challenges on particular jurors during the jury selection process and explaining “the complaining party

must of course establish the denial of his right to exercise a peremptory challenge” before reversible error can be found). Instead, the issue in Jakes’ case hinges on whether the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to remove a seated and sworn juror during trial based on the discovery of information about the juror that was not disclosed during voir dire. See Coaxum, (Shearouse Adv. Sheet No. 40 at 32) (“[T]o receive a new trial, the defendant must show a prejudicial abuse of discretion.”).

Critically, in Jakes’ case, he was fully afforded the right to exercise a peremptory challenge on Juror # 102 – and any of the other prospective jurors – during the jury selection process, and he simply chose not to do so based on the information that was uncovered during voir dire. Once the jury selection process was over and the trial began, Jakes no longer had a right to exercise peremptory challenges on the jurors, and that right was no longer at issue. See State v. Bailey, 273 S.C. 467, 469, 257 S.E.2d 231, 232 (1979) (“ ‘Generally speaking, peremptory challenges arise from the exercise of a privilege granted by the legislative authority. They are allowed by legislatures as an act of grace, rest entirely within the discretion of legislatures, **can be exercised as a matter of right only to the extent allowed by statute**, and must be taken subject to the legislative limitations placed upon the manner of their exercise.’ ” (emphasis added and citation omitted)); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1030 (mandating all objections made to jurors after they are impaneled are waived). Therefore, the trial judge’s decision not to remove Juror # 102 – a seated and sworn juror – in the middle of trial in no way denied Jakes the right to exercise a peremptory challenge, and Jakes was required to establish prejudice in order to establish the trial judge committed reversible error in making that decision. See Coaxum, (Shearouse Adv. Sheet No. 40 at 32) (expressly requiring a

defendant to show a **prejudicial** abuse of discretion in order to be entitled to a reversal of his convictions).

Under the circumstances of Jakes' case, he could not – and cannot – meet his burden of establishing prejudice because Juror # 102's presence on the jury did not prevent him from receiving a fair trial, which was all he was entitled to under the law. See State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 416, 645 S.E.2d 904, 910 (2007) (“[A] defendant has no right to trial by a particular jury.”); Bonneau, 276 S.C. at 126, 276 S.E.2d at 302 (“The defendant was entitled to a fair trial, but not necessarily one satisfactory to him. This he had.”); see also Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 681 (1986) (“As we have stressed on more than one occasion, the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one.”); see generally State v. Stanko, 376 S.C. 571, 576, 658 S.E.2d 94, 96-97 (2008) (“While . . . a defendant [has] the constitutional right to a fair and impartial jury of his peers, this right does not entitle a defendant to handpick a jury.”). Significantly, the societal costs resulting from a retrial are substantial and should only be sustained in situations where the defendant suffered some actual prejudice as the result of an alleged trial error. See United States v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66, 72 (1986) (“The reversal of a conviction entails substantial social costs: it forces jurors, witnesses, courts, the prosecution, and the defendants to expend further time, energy, and other resources to repeat a trial that has already once taken place; victims may be asked to relive their disturbing experiences. . . . These societal costs of reversal and retrial are an acceptable and often necessary consequence when an error in the first proceeding has deprived a defendant of a fair determination of the issue of guilt or innocence. But the balance of interest tips decidedly the other way when an error has had no effect on the outcome of the trial.” (citations omitted)); see also Calderon v. California, 525 U.S. 141,

146 (1998) (“The social costs of retrial or resentencing are significant. . . . The State is not to be put to this arduous task based on mere speculation that the defendant was prejudiced by trial error; the court must find that the defendant was actually prejudiced by the error.” (citations omitted)). Because Jakes received a fair trial by twelve competent, qualified, and impartial jurors, a reversal of his convictions is simply not warranted even if the trial judge somehow erred by declining to remove Juror # 102 from the jury.⁸ See Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. at 681 (“[A]n otherwise valid conviction should not be set aside if the reviewing court may confidently say, on the whole record, that the constitutional error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The harmless-error doctrine recognizes the principle that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant’s guilt or innocence . . . and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial rather than on the virtually inevitable presence of immaterial error.” (citations omitted)); see also State v. Smith, 230 S.C. 164, 168, 94 S.E.2d 886, 887 (1956) (“The burden is upon the appellant to satisfy [the appellate] court that there has been prejudicial error.”). As a result, Jakes’ convictions should be affirmed.

⁸ Moreover, the evidence of guilt in regard to Jakes – who was apprehended after he went to the hospital seeking treatment for the gunshot wounds he received from the victim – was absolutely overwhelming, which further rendered any error that could have possibly occurred in his case entirely harmless. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result.”); see also United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983) (“[T]he [United States Supreme] Court has consistently made clear it is the duty of a reviewing court to consider the trial record as a whole and to ignore errors that are harmless, including most constitutional violations[.]”).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Court of Appeals and the judgment and conviction of the trial court should be affirmed.